RECEIVED

Mar 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000961

Ryan McAvoy,Appellant,

v.

The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James G. Carpenter, S.C. Bar No. 1136
Jennifer J. Miller S.C. Bar No. 11316
THE CARPENTER LAW FIRM, PC
819 E. North Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 235-1269
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE THAT TOWN'S GRANT OF PUBLIC FUNDS TO ASSIST SIDA, A PRIVATE ASSOCIATION, VIOLATED ART. X §§ 5 AND 11 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE THE ADMITTED PRIMARY OBJECTIVE OF THE DREDGE EVENT WAS TO MAINTAIN FREE PASSAGE FOR SIDA'S INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS'S BOATS IN AND OUT OF THEIR PRIVATE BOAT SLIPS AND PRIVATE MARINAS.
2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE THAT THE TOWN'S GRANT OF PUBLIC FUNDS TO ASSIST SIDA MEMBERS, (INDIVIDUALS IN A PRIVATE ASSOCIATION), VIOLATED ART. X §§ 5 AND 11 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION, BECAUSE THE INDIVIDUAL BENEFIT TO THE SIDA MEMBERS IS SUBSTANTIAL AND IN COMPARISON, THE BENEFIT TO ALL OF THE RESIDENTS AND INHABITANTS OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND WAS SPECULATIVE, INDIRECT, AND OF LIMITED ACCESS.
3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE THAT THE TOWN'S GRANT OF PUBLIC FUNDS TO ASSIST SIDA, A PRIVATE ASSOCIATION, ALSO VIOLATED ART. X §§ 5 AND 11 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE DREDGING CHANNELS AND BASINS WITH PUBLIC FUNDS FOR THE PRIVATE INTEREST AND USE OF INDIVIDUALS IS NOT A PUBLIC PURPOSE.
4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RULE THAT THE TOWN'S GRANT OF PUBLIC FUNDS TO ASSIST SIDA, A PRIVATE ASSOCIATION, VIOLATED ART. X, §§ 5 AND 11 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE IT SPENT PUBLIC FUNDS TO IMPROVE PRIVATE PROPERTY DIRECTLY AND CONCRETELY INCLUDING YACHT SLIPS, DOCKS, AND MARINAS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant seeks declaratory judgment on behalf of the taxpayers of the Town of Hilton Head Island (“Town”), that the Town unlawfully subsidized Sea Pines Plantation yacht owners’ dredging their private property with public funds through their private association, the South Island Dredging Association (Complaint, (R. pp. 10-62)).

This Court possesses jurisdiction under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-10 *et seq.*, and under many cases cited in the Complaint, which address public interest and taxpayer standing, to bring a declaratory judgment action against public officials for their acts in their official capacity, including the following: *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Wilson*, 437 S.C. 334, 342, 878 S.E.2d 891, 895 (2022); *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 421 S.C. 110, 804 S.E.2d 854 (2017); *South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. Lucas*, 416 S.C. 269, 786 S.E.2d 124 (2016).

The Town of Hilton Head contributed \$600,000 of public funds to subsidize a \$5 million dredge event of private marinas, private docks, and private boat slips (Testimony of John Brinkley, President of SIDA (R. p. 157, line. 24 - p. 158, line 1; R. p. 191, line 22 - page 201, line 1); Exhibit 1, Town Clerk Christa Weidemeyer Affidavit (R. pp. 210-242) and Attached Certified Town of Hilton Head Island Resolution No. 2022-11, signed May 3, 2022 (R. pp. 210-216), and Attached Contract between Town and SIDA (R. pp. 236-242); Exhibit 10, Letter of John F. Brinkley, President of SIDA to the Town confirming public funds assistance (R. pp. 248-249)).

Appellant contends that this expenditure violates the S.C. Constitution’s requirement to “distinctly state the public purpose to which the proceeds of the tax shall be applied” and the provision that “the state or any of its political subdivisions” [must not pledge or lend credit] for the benefit of any individual, company, association, or corporation” (Complaint (R. pp. 10-62)).

S.C. Const. art. X, 5, 11. This expenditure of public funds primarily benefited a private community and private individuals in violation of the Constitution.

The Circuit Court dismissed the case on the merits under SCRCP 41(b) (Order of May 8, 2024 (R. pp. 1-9)). The Circuit Court reasoned that plaintiff had failed to show any right to relief under the facts and law that the Town violated S.C. Constitution, art. X, §§ 5 and 11 because it did not show that the “waterways are not publicly owned.”

There is no evidence in the record to show that the waterways are not publicly owned. All the evidence offered by Ryan McAvoy related to Sea Pines is property abutting the waterways and roads and subdivisions existing in Sea Pines.

(Order, p. 8 (R p. 8)). However, with accepting the Court’s Findings of Fact, Plaintiff contends that the Circuit Court made an error of law in limiting its determination of a private purpose for the public funds to part of the location of the dredging rather than examining the primary objective of the project and the primary beneficiaries.

The Circuit Court erred in failing to state and apply the correct legal analysis: whether the primary objective and benefit of the project was for private individuals, companies, associations, or corporations under S.C. Const. art. X, §§ 5 and 11 and S.C. Supreme Court interpretations of those provisions. The Circuit Court ruled: “because [plaintiff] failed to produce evidence to show that the Harbor Town Yacht Basin, the entrance channels to it and Braddock Cove Creek are private, as opposed to public, waterways, he has failed to show a right to relief in this case.” (Order of May 8, 2024 (R. pp. 1-9)).

The Circuit Court found that the Town assisted SIDA with its maintenance program of dredging the Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek.

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND, SOUTH CAROLINA, AUTHORIZING THE TOWN MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE SOUTH ISLAND DREDGING ASSOCIATION TO PROVIDE FUNDING ASSISTANCE FOR THE DREDGING OF THE HARBOUR TOWN YACHT BASIN AND BRADDOCK COVE CREEK.

WHEREAS, the South Island Dredging Association (hereinafter, the “Association”) has a **maintenance program of dredging the Harbour Town Yacht Basin** and Braddock Cove Creek [...]

(Exhibit 1, Town Clerk Christa Weidemeyer Affidavit (R. pp 210-244) and Attached Certified Town of Hilton Head Island Resolution No. 2022-11 signed May 3, 2022 (R. pp. 210-216) and Attached Contract between Town and SIDA (R. pp. 236-242)); Exhibit 10, Letter of John F. Brinkley, President of SIDA to the Town confirming public funds assistance (R. pp. 248-249) (emphasis added)). The Court also found, “The Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek both have private boat slips or marinas in them, and both waterways are bordered by Sea Pines Resort, which is a private, gated community.” (Order of May 8, 2024, finding 7, p. 5) (R. p. 5)). Appellant respectfully suggests that it proved its case in large measure by the admissions of the Town and the Findings of Fact by the Circuit Court. The Town of Hilton Head made multiple admissions that establish the elements of the claim.

1. The Town of Hilton Head admits that it used public funds.

“The funds to be delivered under this Agreement from the Town to the Association are **public funds**” (Exhibit 1, Town Clerk Christa Weidemeyer Affidavit (R. pp. 210-244) and Attached Certified Town of Hilton Head Island Resolution No. 2022-11 signed May 3, 2022 (R. pp. 210-216), and Attached Contract between Town and SIDA (R. pp. 236-242); Exhibit 10, Letter of John F. Brinkley, President of SIDA to the Town confirming public funds assistance (R. pp 248-249)).

2. The Town of Hilton Head admits that the boat slips and marinas are privately owned.

“**[B]oat slips** in the Harbour Town Yacht basin **are privately owned.**” (Answer of Town of Hilton Head, par. 13). Mr. John F. Brinkley, the President of SIDA, testified likewise:

24 Q Is the Harbour Town Marina **a private marina**
25 existing in the waters of Harbour Town Yaught [sic] Basin?
1 A **Yes.**

(R, p. 157, line 24 - p. 158, line 1 (emphasis added)).

p. 129

22 THE COURT: Tell me again what you

23 elicited from him.

24 MR. CARPENTER: That **the Harbour Town**

25 Marina is a private marina.

1 THE COURT: Okay, **he did say that.**

(R. p. 191 line 22 -201, line 1(emphasis added)). The Circuit Court recognized that he admitted that the Harbour Town Marina¹ is private.

3. The Town of Hilton Head admits that it spent public funds to maintain private boat slips, docks, and marinas.

The Town of Hilton Head admitted that it used public funds to subsidize the South Island Dredging Association (“SIDA”) and its boat slip owners and marina owners to dredge their private Sea Pines Plantation property. A Town resolution signed in May 2022, states:

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND, SOUTH CAROLINA, AUTHORIZING THE TOWN MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE SOUTH ISLAND DREDGING ASSOCIATION **TO PROVIDE FUNDING ASSISTANCE FOR THE DREDGING OF THE HARBOUR TOWN YACHT BASIN AND BRADDOCK COVE CREEK.**

WHEREAS, the South Island Dredging Association (hereinafter, the “Association”) has a **maintenance program of dredging the Harbour Town Yacht Basin** and Braddock Cove Creek [...]

(Exhibit 1, Town Clerk Christa Weidemeyer Affidavit (R. pp. 210-244) and Attached Certified Town of Hilton Head Island Resolution No. 2022-11, signed May 3, 2022 (R. pp. 210-216), and Attached Contract between Town and SIDA (R. pp. 236-242)).

The resolution continues:

Whereas, the **Association has historically undertaken a program of periodically dredging the Harbour Town Yacht Basin** which includes areas of the entrance channel, **fuel docks, and inner basin,** and Braddock Cove Creek which includes the **Gull Point [Marina] and South Beach [Marina].**

¹ DHEC defines “marina” as “a land-based fueling facility that dispenses fuel over or in close proximity to a waterway. <https://des.sc.gov/programs/bureau-land-waste-management>. S.C. Code Ann. Section 23-9-600 defines “marina” as “a commercial facility which provides mooring or dry storage for watercraft” and “boat dock” as “a man-made structure that protrudes into a body of water for the purpose of mooring a vessel and is connected to an electrical power source. This includes a boat livery but does not include a structure that is privately owned and used exclusively by the owner and the owner’s guests for noncommercial purposes. S.C. Code Ann. Section 54-13-10 defines “privately owned dock” as “any dock which is constructed on or appurtenant to property on which the person constructing the dock owns a leasehold interest in or title to or has obtained permission, express or implied, from the title owner to construct the dock.”

Id. (emphasis added).

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on June 10, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Circuit Court dismissed this action under SCRCP 41(b), ruling that plaintiff failed to produce any evidence that the Harbour Town Yacht Basin, its entrance channels and Braddock Cove Creek are private, as opposed to public waterways and that he had failed to show a right to relief in this case. (Order of May 8, 2024 (R. pp. 1-9)). However, the Court erred in its definition of “public purpose.” The Supreme Court ruled that Rule 41(b), SCRCP applies **only when** a plaintiff has shown **no right to relief based on the facts and the law.** *Harleysville Group Ins. v. Heritage Cmtys., Inc.*, 420 S.C. 321, 803 SE.2d 288 (2017). As the trier of fact in a non-jury trial, the court’s findings will not be disturbed unless they are without evidentiary support.

In an action at law, tried without a jury, the judge’s findings [of fact] will not be disturbed unless they are without evidentiary support. *Townes Assoc. Ltd. v. City of [317 S.C. 389] Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). His findings are equivalent to those of a jury in an action at law. *Id.*

King v. PYA Monarch, Inc., 453 S.E.2d 885, 317 S.C. 385 (S.C. 1994).

However, “appellate courts review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts.” *Mangal v. State*, 805 S.E.2d 568, 421 S.C. 85 (S.C. 2017). In the case at bar, the Circuit Court’s Findings of Fact, taken together with the admissions in the Answer, and testimony and exhibits of the Town’s witness admitted by the Court, demonstrate that the Town’s assistance to the SIDA dredge violated the public purpose requirement of South Carolina Constitution, art. X, §§ 5 and 11, as argued below (Order, pp. 3-5 (R. pp. 3-5), Answer, par. 13-14 (R. p. 59), Exhibit. 1, Town Clerk Christa Weidemeyer Affidavit and Attachments (R. pp. 210-244), Exhibit 10, Letter of John F. Hinckley to Town Manager (R. pp.248-249), Certified Town of Hilton Head Resolution 2022-11 of May 3, 2022 (R. pp. 210-216) and attached Contract (RD. pp. 236-242)); R, p.157 line 24- p. 158 line 1 and p. 190 line 25 -p. 192, line 1).

Accordingly, under this standard of *de novo* review of questions of law and in view of the acts found by the Circuit Court and admitted below, this public expenditure was ***primarily for “the***

benefit of an individual, company, association, or corporation” in violation of the S.C. Constitution, Article X, §§ 5 and 11.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. THE TOWN SPENT PUBLIC FUNDS TO SUBSIDIZE A SIDA DREDGE EVENT WITH THE PRIMARY AND PRIVATE PURPOSE OF ASSISTING THE SIDA MEMBERS TO MAINTAIN ACCESS AND EGRESS FROM THEIR PRIVATELY OWNED YACHT SLIPS, DOCKS, AND MARINAS.

A. SIDA purpose and history

The South Island Dredging Association (“SIDA”) was formed around 2000. Before that time, individual members had been arranging for dredging of their private property individually. (Testimony of John Brinkley, SIDA President (R. p. 134, lines 2-3); Answer, par. 13 (R. p. 59)).

Well, the people got together because what was happening originally was individuals were arranging **their dredging on an individual basis**. So part of the appeal of bringing the group together was, they had a common interest, they had a common need.

(Testimony of John Brinkley, SIDA President (R. p. 138, lines 10-19) (emphasis added)).

Historically, the South Island Dredging Association (“SIDA”) has pooled the resources of the member dock owners and boat slip owners within Sea Pines Plantation to dredge private docks, private boat slips, private marinas, and waterways within Sea Pines Plantation on the southern end of Hilton Head Island (Testimony of John Brinkley, SIDA President (R. p. 173, line 5 – p. 174, line 22)).

B. Letter from SIDA president requesting public assistance from the Town for the SIDA dredge event

In 2022, the SIDA president sent a letter to the Town Council requesting public assistance to help pay for the dredging. The Town Council voted to contribute \$600,000 of public funds to SIDA to subsidize the cost of their dredging (Exhibit 1, Affidavit of Town Clerk Christa Weidemeyer and Attachments (R. pp. 210-244), Certified Town Resolution of May 2022 (R. pp. 210-216); Exhibit 10, Letter of SIDA President John Brinkley to Town Manager, Marc Orlando (R. pp. 248-249)).

C. The Town passed the resolution to “assist the South Island Dredging Association with dredging [...]”

The Town passed a resolution in May of 2022 to subsidize Sea Pines Plantation yacht owners, private slip owners, and a dock owners’ association, South Island Dredging Association (“SIDA”) for a dredging expenditure of \$5 million with \$600,000 of public funds (R. pp. 210-216 and R. pp. 236-242). Accordingly, The Town of Hilton Head public funds helped pay to dredge the individual boat slips, private docks, and private marinas within Sea Pines Plantation to allow members of SIDA to use their boats fully.² (Testimony of John Brinkley, SIDA president, (R. p. 101, lines 1-18; R. p. 157 line 24 – p. 158 line 1; R. p. 173, line 5 – p. 174, line 22; R. p. 191, line 20 – p. 192, line 1); Answer par. 13 (R. p. 59); Exhibit. 1, Town Clerk Christa Weidemeyer Affidavit and Attachments (R. pp. 210-244); Certified Town of Hilton Head Resolution 2022-11 of May 3, 2022 (R. pp. 210-216) and attached Contract (R. pp. 236-242); Exhibit 10 Letter of SIDA President John F. Brinkley to Town Manager, Marc Orlando (R. pp. 248-249)).

In the letter confirming this expenditure of public funds to assist the SIDA members, Mr. Brinkley, wrote to the Town Manager, Mr. Marc Orlando:

The purpose of this letter is to confirm the request by South Island Dredging Association **for funding assistance** for the planned South Island dredge event scheduled for November this year. It is our understanding that the Town has reserved \$400,000 to date and will reserve another \$200,000 in its fiscal 2023 budget. The requested Town’s support of \$600,000 is approximately 12% of the expected project costs.

(Exhibit 10, p. 1 (R. p. 248)). Notably, this confirmation did not reference any specific target within the dredge event for the Town’s public funds, but instead stated that the Town’s funds would assist with 12% of the total cost. *Id.* Also of note, in 2018, the Town also subsidized SIDA member payments with \$600,000 in public funds to dredge many of these same private slips, docks, and

² See also the permit maps included in Plaintiffs Exhibit 18, Exhibit B to Affidavit of SIDA President John F. Brinkley Affidavit and Attachments (R. pp. 298-300, 316, 319, 322, 326, 328, 341), which show that private boat slips, docks and marinas comprise a significant portion of the dredging targets including the Yacht Basin.

marinas (Testimony of John F. Brinkley, President of SIDA (R. p. 156, lines 13-17); Exhibit 10 Letter of SIDA President John F. Brinkley to Town Manager, Marc Orlando (R. pp. 248-249)).

D. The Primary Objective of the Dredge Event was to Maintain the “Availability to Use Your Boat Frequently”

Mr. Brinkley testified that the primary purpose of the dredging was to allow the members to take their boats in and out from the private boat slips.

5 Q: And the SIDA has raised and spent a lot of money over the course of
6 the 23 years, is that right?

7 A: That’s correct.

8 Q: And **your members have come up with the money** to
9 pay for the dredging, right?

10 A **Yes.**

11 Q And dredging is all you do in the SIDA, right?

12 A That’s correct.

13 Q So what I’d like to ask you is: What are your
14 members getting for all their time, effort, and money
15 by the dredging? What do they benefit from it?

16 Q What keeps them doing it?

17 A Well, **they do that to preserve navigation. A
18 boat is pretty difficult to use if it’s sitting in
19 the mud, and they’ve all had that experience.**

20 Q Okay. Anything else?

21 A Well, I think that’s **the principal thing**, is
22 **the availability to use your boat frequently.**

P. 112

19 Q Okay. What about property values? Those people
20 that bought the yaught [sic] slips had to pay for them,
21 right?

22 A Yes.

(Testimony of John F. Brinkley (R. p. 173, line 5 – p. 174, line 22) (emphasis added)).

E. The SIDA dredge event dredged private areas.

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