RECEIVED

Nov 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2024-000961

Ryan McAvoy.....Appellant,

v.

Town of Hilton Head Island.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Curtis L. Coltrane (S.C. Bar No.: 1344)  
LaQuin J. Andrus (S.C. Bar No.: 106520)  
COLTRANE & WILKINS, LLC  
Post Office Box 6808  
Hilton Head Island, SC 29938  
T: (843) 785-5551  
F: (843) 785-5552  
Attorneys for The Town of Hilton Head Island

## STATEMENT OF QUESTION PRESENTED

Does the expenditure of public funds to contribute to the cost to dredge a publicly owned navigable waterway and the submerged lands in the navigable waterway violate S. C. Const. art X, § 5 or S. C. Const. art X § 11?

(a) The only evidence in the record is that waterways in question are publicly owned waters of the United States and the State of South Carolina.

(b) Private docks or marinas exist in navigable waterways by permit from the State of South Carolina, and the existence of such does not change the public nature and ownership of the navigable waterway or the submerged lands in it.

(c) The existence of private property abutting a public navigable waterway does not change the nature and ownership of navigable waterway.

(Appellant's Arguments I, II, III and IV).

## SCOPE OF REVIEW

This case was bench trial before the Hon. Jocelyn Newman. The appeal arises from an Order of Judge Newman granting the Town’s motion for involuntary non-suit under Rule 41(b), SCRPC. When considering a motion under Rule 41(b) SCRPC, the Court should review using the abuse of discretion standard.

A Motion for involuntary non-suit under Rule 41(b), SCRPC, “allows the judge as fact finder to weigh the evidence, determine the facts and render a judgment against the plaintiff at the close of his case if justified.”<sup>1</sup> Because this case is a law case, Ryan McAvoy’s appeal is from the trial court’s factual findings as a judge in a non-jury action at law.<sup>2</sup>

“In an action at law tried without a jury, an appellate court's scope of review extends merely to the correction of errors of law.”<sup>3</sup> An appellate court may not “disturb the trial court's findings unless they are found to be without evidence that reasonably supports those findings.”<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> *Johnson v. J.P. Stevens & Co.*, 308 S.C. 116, 118, 417 S.E.2d 527, 529 (1992).

<sup>2</sup> *Waterpointe I Prop. Owner's Ass'n, Inc. v. Paragon, Inc.*, 342 S.C. 454, 459, 536 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 2000). In McAvoy’s Complaint and in the case he presented disputes the public ownership of the navigable waterways to be dredged. An action concerning the determination of ownership of tidelands pursuant to S. C. Code Ann. § 48-39-220 (Supp. 2024) is an action at law. See: *Query v. Burgess*, 371 S.C. 407, 410, 639 S.E.2d 455, 456 (Ct. App. 2006). McAvoy’s assertions questioning the use of public funds for dredging a public waterway implicate the ownership status of the waterways. South Carolina case law holds that “where the main purpose of the complaint concerns the determination of title to real property, it is an action at law.” *Lowcountry Open Land Tr. v. State*, 347 S.C. 96, 101, 552 S.E.2d 778, 781 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *Wigfall v. Fobbs*, 295 S.C. 59, 60, 367 S.E.2d 156, 157 (1988)). Because McAvoy challenges the public ownership of these waterways, this is an action at law.

<sup>3</sup> *Wilson v. Gandis*, 430 S.C. 282, 291, 844 S.E.2d 631, 636 (2020).

<sup>4</sup> *Waterpointe I Prop. Owner's Ass'n, Inc. v. Paragon, Inc.*, *supra*.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ryan McAvoy (hereafter, “McAvoy”) commenced this case on August 25, 2022, by the filing of a Summons and Complaint.<sup>5</sup> In his Complaint, McAvoy made the following material allegations of fact:

1. The Town of Hilton Head Island is a municipality located in Beaufort County, South Carolina.<sup>6</sup>
2. The Town of Hilton Head Island has spent public money for the dredging of the Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek, which McAvoy alleged to be private waterways located in Sea Pines.<sup>7</sup>
4. In the year 2022, the Town of Hilton Head Island voted to spend \$600,000 in public money for dredging of the Harbor Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek, which McAvoy alleges to be private waterways in Sea Pines.<sup>8</sup>
5. Using public funds for the dredging of Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek is an expenditure of public money for private purposes

---

<sup>5</sup> In the caption and in paragraph 1 of the Complaint (R. \_\_\_\_), McAvoy states that the case was brought on behalf of McAvoy and “all others similarly situated.” McAvoy never pursued an order establishing a class action status under Rule 23, SCRPC, and McAvoy’s counsel disclaimed that he sought class action status (Transcript, p. 122, l. 25 to p. 123, l. 1, R. \_\_\_\_).

<sup>6</sup> Complaint, para. 2, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>7</sup> Complaint, para. 12, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>8</sup> Complaint, para. 16, R. \_\_\_\_.

in violation of S. C. Const, Art. X, § 5 and 11.<sup>9</sup>

On these allegations McAvoy:

- (a) sought a declaration that the use public funds for the dredging of Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek are expenditures of public money for private purposes in violation of S. C. Const, Art. X, § 5 and 11;
- (b) An injunction prohibiting the Town of Hilton Head Island from spending public money for the dredging of the Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek; and,
- (c) An award of attorney's fees under S. C. Code Ann. § 15-77-300 (Supp. 2024).

The Town of Hilton Head Island (hereinafter, the "Town") filed its Answer on September 1, 2022. In its Answer, the Town denied the material allegations of the Complaint and asserted the following defenses:

1. Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek are not private, but rather are publicly owned navigable waters of the State of South Carolina and of the United States.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> Complaint, paras. 14 and 18, R. \_\_\_\_\_. Paragraph 14 McAvoy's Complaint states a figure of two million dollars, not the six hundred thousand dollars stated in paragraph 16 of the Complaint. The higher figure arises from other allegations in the Complaint in which McAvoy also challenged the Town's expenditure of Stormwater Utility Fees on drainage infrastructure in gated communities over which the Town possessed permanent legal access and maintenance authority. The claim related to the Stormwater Utility Fees was withdrawn by McAvoy.

<sup>10</sup> Answer, para. 12, R. \_\_\_\_; para. 22, R. \_\_\_\_\_.

2. Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek are tourism related recreational facilities as defined in S. C. Code Ann. § 6-1-730 (Supp. 2024), and by § 4-13-70, *Municipal Code of The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina* (1983).<sup>11</sup>

3. The funding source for the Town's contribution to the cost of the dredging is the local hospitality tax authorized in S. C. Code Ann. § 6-1-730 (Supp. 2024). The expenditure of local hospitality taxes on tourism related

---

<sup>11</sup> Answer, para. 12, R. \_\_\_\_; para. 14, R. \_\_\_\_; para. 16, R. \_\_\_\_; para. 20, R. \_\_\_\_; and, para. 21, R. \_\_\_\_ . § 4-13-70, *Municipal Code of The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina* (1983), reads:

(a) The town council is hereby authorized to utilize the funds collected from the imposition and collection of the local accommodations tax and any other funds deposited into "The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina, Local Accommodations Tax Account." The revenue generated by the local accommodations tax must be used exclusively for the following purposes:

- (1) Tourism-related buildings, including, but not limited to, civic centers, coliseums, and aquariums;
- (2) Tourism-related cultural, recreational, or historic facilities;(3)Beach access and renourishment;
- (4) Highways, roads, streets, and bridges providing access to tourist destinations;
- (5) Advertisements and promotions related to tourism development;
- (6) Water and sewer infrastructure to serve tourism-related demand; and,
- (7) The operation and maintenance of those items provided in (a)(1) through (a)(6) above, including police, fire protection, emergency medical services, and emergency-preparedness operations directly attendant to those facilities;
- (8)For those purposes set forth in section 4-10-100.

(b) The town shall set aside five (5) percent of the local accommodations tax collected hereunder, and shall deposit the same into an advertising account in the general fund as identified in the accounting and financial policies section of the annual budget as adopted by town council, with said funds to be utilized as provided therein.

(c) Authorization to utilize any funds from the "the town, Local Accommodations Tax Account," shall be by the annual budget ordinance duly adopted by the town council for the town.

recreational facilities is authorized by S. C. Code Ann. § 6-1-730 (Supp. 2024), and by § 4-13-80, *Municipal Code of The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina* (1983).<sup>12</sup>

The Town and McAvoy filed motions for summary judgment. The Town filed its motion on October 11, 2022, and McAvoy filed his motion on November 1, 2022. The motions were heard by Judge Newman on February 6, 2024. On September 5, 2023, Judge Newman denied both motions for summary judgment.

A bench trial before Judge Newman commenced at the Beaufort County Courthouse on September 6, 2023. At the conclusion of McAvoy's case, the Town moved for involuntary dismissal under Rule 41(b), SCRCPP, because the only evidence in the record established that Harbour Town Yacht Basin, its entrance channel, and Braddock Cove Creek and the submerged lands in them are not private, but are public waterways.<sup>13</sup> Judge Newman granted the Town's motion.<sup>12</sup>

On May 10, 2024, Judge Newman filed her written Order, dated May 8, 2024, dismissing McAvoy's complaint under Rule 41(b), SCRCPP.<sup>13</sup>

McAvoy filed his Notice of Appeal on June 10, 2024.

---

<sup>12</sup> Answer, para. 12, R. \_\_\_\_; para. 14, R. \_\_\_\_; para. 16, R. \_\_\_\_; para. 20, R. \_\_\_\_; and para. 21, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>13</sup> The Town's motion stated other grounds which were denied by Judge Newman. Transcript, p. 141. l. 9, to p. 142, l. 10, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>12</sup> Transcript, p. p. 142, l. 11, to p. 143. l. 9, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>13</sup> May 8, 2024, Order, pp. 1 - 8, R. \_\_\_\_.

## RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the May 8, 2024, Order, Judge Newman found the following to be the matters of fact relevant to this case. Each is supported by the only evidence in the record.<sup>14</sup>

1. On May 3, 2022, the Town adopted Resolution 2022-11, which authorized the Town Manager to execute and deliver an Agreement between the Town and the South Island Dredging Association.<sup>15</sup>
2. The findings in Resolution 2022-11 state that the Town allocated the sum of \$600,000.00 for the purpose of dredging of the Harbour Town Yacht Basin and Braddock Cove Creek.<sup>16</sup>
3. The Town Manager executed the Agreement authorized by Resolution 2022-11.<sup>17</sup>
4. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Town authorized the expenditure of \$600,000.00 for the dredging of the Harbour Town Yacht Basin, the entrance channels to it and Braddock Cove Creek.<sup>18</sup>
5. The dredging of the Harbour Town Yacht Basin, the entrance channels to it and Braddock Cove Creek and the submerged lands in them are authorized by permits issued by the United States Army Corps of Engineers (hereinafter, "USACOE"), and the State of South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (hereinafter, "SDCHEC"). The permits state that the purpose of the work is:

- (a) To maintain navigational access from certain Sea Pines waterways to the Calibogue Sound for recreational and commercial use;<sup>19</sup> and,
- (b) To remove sediments from the existing tidal waterways associated with Calibogue Sound in order to provide adequate depths for recreational and

---

<sup>14</sup> May 8, Order, R. pp.\_\_\_\_.

<sup>15</sup> Exhibit A to Exhibit 1, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>16</sup> Exhibit A to Exhibit 1, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>17</sup> Exhibit B to Exhibit 1, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>18</sup> Exhibit B to Exhibit 1, R.\_\_\_\_.

<sup>19</sup> Exhibit 11, p. 2 of 33, R. \_\_\_\_.

commercial vessels utilizing the waterways.<sup>20</sup>

The witness John Brinkley testified that the purpose of the purpose of the dredging is to preserve navigation.<sup>21</sup>

6. The Harbour Town Yacht Basin, the entrance channels to it, Braddock Cove Creek and the submerged lands in them are publicly owned, navigable waterways of the United States and the State of South Carolina and are open to the public.<sup>22</sup> The Plaintiff's witness Mare Deckard testified that she was able to pilot a vessel into the Harbour Town Yacht Basin and the full length of Braddock Cove Creek without hindrance.<sup>23</sup>

7. Both the Harbour Town Yacht Basin, its entrance channel and Braddock Cove Creek are open to Calibogue Sound, the water in them is saline and is affected by the tides.<sup>24</sup>

8. The source of funding for the contribution to the dredging of the public waterways that are used for recreational purposes is local hospitality taxes authorized under S. C. Code Ann. § 6-1-730 (Supp. 2024) and § 4-13-80, *Municipal Code of The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina* (1983).<sup>25</sup>

---

<sup>20</sup> Exhibit 18, p. 13, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>21</sup> Transcript, p. 111, l. 17, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>22</sup> Exhibit 11, R. \_\_\_\_ and Exhibit 18, R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>23</sup> Transcript, p. 31, l. 21 to p. 32, l. 13; p. 60., R. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>24</sup> Exhibit 18, p. 13, R. \_\_\_\_\_. See also: Appellants' Brief, p. 26. The Appellant admits that these waters are saline and tidal.

<sup>25</sup> Exhibit 1, R. \_\_\_\_\_. McAvoy does not challenge the source of the funding, or whether the dredging is an appropriate use of hospitality taxes under S. C. Code Ann. § 6-1-730 (Supp. 2024) and § 4-13-80, *Municipal Code of The Town of Hilton Head Island, South Carolina* (1983). Rather, Judge Newman found that the sole argument advanced by McAvoy is that the waterways are privately owned, and the use of any public funds to dredge them violated S. C. const. art. X, § 5. May 8, 2024, Order, p. 6, R. \_\_\_\_.

INTRODUCTION  
(Appellant's Arguments I, II, III & IV)

Throughout McAvoy's Brief, he attempts to make a case that the Town improperly allocated local hospitality taxes to defray a part of the cost of dredging public waterways that serve recreational and tourism needs.<sup>26</sup> As was the case at trial, McAvoy fails to point to any evidence to show that the navigable waterways and submerged lands being dredged are not public waterways and submerged lands and that the purpose of the dredge is to maintain navigability of public waterways.<sup>27</sup>

Each of McAvoy's arguments is premised on the claim that public funds were spent on private property or for private purposes in violation of S. C. Const, Art. X, § 5 and 11. As a matter of fact, this is wrong. The public funds are to aid in the dredging of publicly owned navigable waterways. There is no evidence in the record to show otherwise.

The purpose of the dredge permit issued by SCDHEC is stated to be: "To maintain navigational access from certain Sea Pines waterways to the Calibogue Sound for recreational and commercial use."<sup>28</sup> The purpose of the dredge permit issued by the USACOE is stated to be: "To remove sediments from the existing tidal waterways associated with Calibogue Sound in order to provide adequate depths for recreational and commercial

---

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